
 

 

MINUTES OF 
FAUQUIER COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 

AUGUST 2, 2018 
 

Work Session  
1:45 p.m.  

Warren Green Building, First Floor Meeting Room 
10 Hotel Street 

Warrenton, Virginia 

 
The Fauquier County Board of Zoning Appeals held a work session on Thursday, August 2, 
2018, beginning at approximately 1:45 p.m. in the Warren Green Building, First Floor 
Meeting Room, 10 Hotel Street, Warrenton, Virginia. Members present were Mr. John 
Meadows, Chairperson; Mr. Maximilian Tufts, Jr., Vice-Chairperson; Mr. Bill Chipman; Mrs. 
Mary North Cooper; and Mr. Benjamin Tissue, Jr. Also present were Mr. Adam 
Shellenberger, Chief of Planning; Ms. Heather Jenkins, Assistant Chief of 
Zoning/Development Services; Mrs. Kimberley Fogle, Director of Community Development; 
Ms. Holly Meade, Assistant Director of Community Development; Ms. Marianne Primeau, 
Senior Assistant County Attorney; Ms. Amy Pritchard, Principal Planner; Mr. Ben Holt, 
Planner II; Ms. Kara Krantz, Planner; and Mrs. Fran Williams, Administrative 
Manager/Secretary.     
 
 
MINUTES: 
 
Board members reviewed the June 7, 2018 and July 5, 2018 minutes. 
 
 
SPECIAL PERMIT #SPPT-18-009243, JUDE J. COVAS, ET AL, TRUSTEES OF THE 
RAYMOND C. HAWKINS CHILDREN'S TRUST II (OWNER)/R. C. HAWKINS 
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. (APPLICANT) – HAWKINS' PROPERTY – An 
application for a Category 2 Special Permit to operate a small contracting business as a major 
home occupation, PIN 7838-79-6029-000 and 7838-89-3177-000, located at 15223 
Copperhead Road, Cedar Run District, Catlett, Virginia. (Adam Shellenberger, Staff) 
 
Mr. Shellenberger reviewed the application. 
 
Ms. Primeau stated that Section 13.5-4 of the Fauquier County Code allows refuse collection 
and sanitation services to begin at 5:00 a.m.  
 
 
SPECIAL PERMIT #SPPT-18-009422, THE BRIDGE COMMUNITY ASSEMBLY OF 
GOD CHURCH (OWNER/APPLICANT) – THE BRIDGE COMMUNITY ASSEMBLY 
OF GOD CHURCH – An application to amend a previously approved Category 6 Special 
Permit (SPPT-14-002328) to allow a place of worship, PIN 6982-38-9358-000, 6982-37-
6989-000, 6982-47-3844-000, and 6982-47-2625-000, located at 8774, 8776, 8816 and 8826 
James Madison Highway, Marshall District, Warrenton, Virginia. (Adam Shellenberger, 
Staff) 



2 
 

 

Mr. Shellenberger reviewed the application. 
 
 

Regularly Scheduled Meeting  
2:00 p.m.  

Warren Green Building, First Floor Meeting Room 
10 Hotel Street 

Warrenton, Virginia 

 
The Fauquier County Board of Zoning Appeals held its regularly scheduled meeting on 
Thursday, August 2, 2018, beginning at 2:00 p.m. in the Warren Green Building, First Floor 
Meeting Room, 10 Hotel Street, Warrenton, Virginia. Members present were Mr. John 
Meadows, Chairperson; Mr. Maximilian Tufts, Jr., Vice-Chairperson; Mr. Bill Chipman; Mrs. 
Mary North Cooper; and Mr. Benjamin Tissue, Jr. Also present were Mr. Adam 
Shellenberger, Chief of Planning; Ms. Heather Jenkins, Assistant Chief of 
Zoning/Development Services; Mrs. Kimberley Fogle, Director of Community Development; 
Ms. Holly Meade, Assistant Director of Community Development; Ms. Marianne Primeau, 
Senior Assistant County Attorney; Ms. Amy Pritchard, Principal Planner; Mr. Ben Holt, 
Planner II; Ms. Kara Krantz, Planner; and Mrs. Fran Williams, Administrative 
Manager/Secretary.           
  
   
LETTERS OF NOTIFICATION AND PUBLIC NOTICE: 
 
Mrs. Williams read the public hearing protocol. 
 
Mr. Shellenberger stated that, to the best of his knowledge, the cases before the Board of 
Zoning Appeals for public hearing have been properly advertised, posted and letters of 
notification sent to adjoining property owners. 
 
 
MINUTES: 
 
On motion made by Mr. Tufts and seconded by Mr. Tissue, it was moved to approve the June 
7, 2018 minutes. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
On motion made by Mr. Tufts and seconded by Mr. Tissue, it was moved to approve the July 
5, 2018 minutes. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

 

REGULAR AGENDA: 
 
SPECIAL PERMIT #SPPT-18-009243, JUDE J. COVAS, ET AL, TRUSTEES OF THE 
RAYMOND C. HAWKINS CHILDREN'S TRUST II (OWNER)/R. C. HAWKINS 
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. (APPLICANT) – HAWKINS' PROPERTY – An 
application for a Category 2 Special Permit to operate a small contracting business as a major 
home occupation, PIN 7838-79-6029-000 and 7838-89-3177-000, located at 15223 
Copperhead Road, Cedar Run District, Catlett, Virginia. (Adam Shellenberger, Staff) 
 
Mr. Shellenberger reviewed the staff report. 
 
Mr. Meadows clarified that the Board of Zoning Appeals has no jurisdiction over anything on 
this property that has to do with agriculture, hobbies, or personal business. He stated that the 
application before the Board today is strictly for a Special Permit regarding a small 
contracting business and requested that all comments address this issue only.  
 
In addition, Mr. Meadows stated that the applicant's representative has requested to be the last 
speaker. 
 
Mr. Meadows opened the public hearing.  
 
Ms. Sharon Owen, a neighbor, spoke in support of approval, stating that noise from the 
applicant's property is no louder than what is heard from other locations in the community. 
 
Mrs. Erma Pfeiffer, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to approval. Mrs. Pfeiffer stated that one 
of the reasons her family purchased their property was because of the surrounding tranquil 
setting, which they enjoyed until the applicant moved his large, industrial operation to his 
property. Mrs. Pfeiffer urged the Board to deny the applicant's request after highlighting her 
concerns about the noise, heavy truck traffic, choking dust, the odor of pig feces and burning 
trash, damage done to their narrow road, and the health risks due to the toxic amount of E.coli 
bacteria found in the applicant's polluted creek, which drains into their pond and is carried 
further downstream.  
 
Mr. Randy Lee, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to granting the request, citing concerns about 
increased truck traffic causing damage to Waite Lane which is a private gravel road, toxic 
fumes from burning debris, the potential for neighboring wells to be contaminated, and the 
possibility that property values could decrease in the future. Mr. Lee stated that while he 
wishes the applicant success, this industrial business should be relocated to an appropriately 
zoned property, as suggested at a previous meeting. 
 
Mr. Paul Pfeiffer, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to granting approval. Mr. Pfeiffer stated that 
he and his family enjoyed their peaceful location until the applicant chose to begin operating 
his industrial business from the property and constructed a gravel road sufficient for handling 
18-wheel truck traffic. Mr. Pfeiffer reviewed his background as an Urban Planner and 
government contractor to assure the Board that he knows how to interpret regulations and how 
they should be properly complied with. He noted that the applicant has submitted an email 
from the company providing his trash service which indicates they have picked up from his 
residence in the early morning hours. Mr. Pfeiffer stated that four of the five time stamps are 
between 3:51 a.m. and 4:16 a.m., which is prior to the 5:00 a.m. start time allowed by the 



4 
 

 

Fauquier County Code. He also noted that all the trash pickup days were on a Thursday and 
not a Sunday when the dump truck was heard. Mr. Pfeiffer stated that negative comments 
from the community are in no way personal, vindictive, or retaliatory. While he admires and 
respects anyone who owns and operates his own business, it should be done within the 
confines of the law and not so as to potentially lower surrounding property values. In 
concluding, he urged the Board to deny the applicant's request given his past failures to 
comply with County regulations. 
 
Mr. James Fager, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to granting the request, noting concerns 
about increased large truck traffic on Waite Lane and the potential for decreased property 
values. Mr. Fager questioned if the applicant would follow rules in the future since he has 
been operating his business for several years without the necessary approvals. 
 
Ms. Diane Cook-Townsend, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to granting approval, stating that 
the business, which can easily be considered an industrial use, is not appropriate for its current 
location. Ms. Cook-Townsend stated that this contracting business has impacted the quality of 
life for two neighborhoods and will continue to do so if the application is approved. Ms. 
Cook-Townsend spoke of the unsightly view of the applicant's trailers and other equipment 
that she must contend with. She also stated that the noise generated from the property, which 
has decreased slightly since the application has been under consideration, can still be heard. In 
addition, she expressed concern that property values in the area are sure to decline due to the 
numerous issues at this location. She stated that the applicant has a history of not following 
County regulations and he will not abide by any conditions that might be imposed on him 
should this request be approved. Ms. Cook-Townsend concluded by stating that while the 
applicant is entitled to operate a business, his neighbors also have a right to live in a peaceful 
and beautiful neighborhood, enjoy their homes and property, and not have their quality of life 
degraded. 
 
Mr. Rod Bohall, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to approval, citing concerns about a possible 
decrease in area property values, the lack of visual screening, noise, burning trash and the 
applicant's history of violating County regulations. Mr. Bohall asked if anyone would want an 
industrial business next to their personal residential property and encouraged the Board to 
deny the request. 
 
Ms. Wendy Velasquez, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to granting approval. Ms. Velasquez 
stated that she also owns a large construction business but does not run it from her residential 
property. She stated that while she wishes the applicant the best with his business, this 
operation is negatively affecting the lives of area residents and will unfortunately affect the 
resale value of their property. In addition, Ms. Velasquez expressed concern about noise and 
the foul smells coming from the applicant's property. 
 
Mrs. Deborah Pfeiffer, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to approval. Mrs. Pfeiffer stated that 
the applicant has violated existing regulations by operating his business from this property for 
two years without the necessary approvals. She further stated that laws are in existence for a 
reason and should be upheld by the County. 
 
Merle W. Fallon, Esq., representative, emphasized what was stated earlier by the Chairman – 
that there are by-right uses on this property that will continue. He noted that approval of the 
Special Permit application would actually moderate the impact of some of those uses. One 



5 
 

 

example is related to trash pickup, which the County Code limits to the hours of 5:00 a.m. to 
10:00 p.m. The applicant has now requested that his trash be picked up no earlier than 7:00 
a.m., instead of between 3:00 a.m. and 4:00 a.m., as the company was previously doing. He 
stated that the vast majority (95%) of the trash is either household or associated with the 
agricultural activity on the property. As a result, a trash truck could be on-site as early as 5:00 
a.m., but if the Special Permit is approved, a condition has been proposed that no activity be 
allowed on-site until after 7:00 a.m. He stated that regardless of whether the application is 
approved or not, the trash service will come no earlier than 7:00 a.m. He also noted that there 
was an occurrence when trash was picked up on a Sunday, but this was because the trash 
company missed their normal day. In the future, this will not occur. 
 
Mr. Fallon stated that the agricultural use required that the applicant log the property, which 
was done according to a Virginia Department of Forestry plan. This plan required the area to 
be converted to pasture within one year of the time the logging operation is complete. To do 
so, stumps had to removed and hauled from the site. The applicant's business involves other 
sites where logging, brush and stump removal occur. This material is then transported to a 
landfill where it is legal to be disposed of and is not burned at the applicant's property. 
Occasionally, if the landfill is closed, trucks may bring the material to the property and then 
take it to the landfill for proper disposal once it has reopened the next day. Mr. Fallon stressed 
that only material generated on the property is burned on-site. 
 
Mr. Fallon explained that the applicant had water from a stream on his property tested after 
receiving a complaint about E.coli contamination from an attorney representing one of the 
neighbors. In addition, testing was done on water coming from another property where there 
is a horse stable and a large pile of manure. The testing revealed that the E.coli content 
coming on the applicant's property is far greater than the measurements going off his property, 
which highlights the fact that streams have a self-cleaning process they go through. Mr. Fallon 
stated that while some of the contamination may be coming from the pigs on his client's 
property, this is a by-right agricultural use and is not the subject of this application. 
 
Mr. Fallon emphasized that this property is not an industrial site. It is a small contracting 
business, which is allowed in the zoning district (RA) in which this property is located. He 
stated that there are also other businesses of this nature in the area. A Special Permit, with 
conditions of approval, allows the County to control a legal use on the property so that it has a 
minimal impact on the neighborhood. The proposed conditions associated with this 
application will mitigate concerns about the use. In addition, the proposed conditions of 
approval would grant this request for a one year period. If, during that time, the applicant does 
not abide by these conditions, the Special Permit can be automatically revoked. Mr. Fallon 
stated that he met with the County Attorney earlier in the day and asked if the Board would 
like to go into a closed session to discuss the legal status. He concluded by requesting 
approval of this application.   
 
Mr. Chipman noted that the applicant's proposed hours of operation are from 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 
p.m., Monday through Friday, and between 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on Saturday. He inquired 
how these hours can be reconciled with the proposal that the applicant be allowed to respond 
to Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) requests for equipment during snow events 
at any time. He stated that while there have not been very many snow storms in the past few 
years, there have been some winters where we have experienced snow events up to 10 times. 



6 
 

 

Mr. Chipman explained that his concern is the noise (i.e., backup beepers) especially when 
trucks might come in during the early morning hours. 
 
Mr. Fallon stated that this exception to the hours of operation would only be for snow events, 
at which time the trucks would come in, attach a snow plow and then leave. He explained that 
the exception would only be for a three or four month period each year.  
 
Mr. Tissue stated that there are agricultural, personal hobby, and business uses on the property 
and asked how an inspector would be able to differentiate between which activities are by-
right and those that are not. He also stated that, during the previous site visit, he saw 
numerous pieces of equipment that did not appear to be for agricultural or personal use. 
 
Mr. Fallon stated this could easily been done. If an inspector comes on-site and sees someone 
operating a truck, they can simply ask the person what they are doing. In addition, Mr. Fallon 
stated that the applicant has made arrangements to move some of the equipment elsewhere. 
He further stated that the applicant will be constrained by the Special Permit conditions which 
will limit the number of pieces of equipment allowed on-site. He clarified that the road grader 
is not used as part of the business. Rather, the applicant uses this piece of equipment to grade 
the road between his driveway and Cromwell Road.  
 
In that there were no further speakers, Mr. Meadows closed the public hearing. 
 
Mr. Meadows asked the Board if there were any additional questions for Mr. Fallon or if they 
would like to go into Closed Session. 
 
Board members responded that there were no additional questions and they did not wish to go 
into Closed Session. In addition, Mr. Chipman stated that he was ready with a motion. 
 
On motion made by Mr. Chipman and seconded by Mr. Tissue, it was moved to deny the 
Special Permit request after due notice and hearing as required by Code of Virginia §15.2-
2204 and Section 5-009 of the Fauquier County Zoning Ordinance, based upon the following 
Board findings: 

 
1.  The applicant has other reasonable use of the property. 
 
2.  The proposed use will adversely affect the use or development of neighboring 
       properties and will impair the value of nearby land. 
 
3.  The type and amount of traffic generated by the facility will cause an undue 
       impact on the neighborhood and adversely affect safety of road usage. 
 

The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 

SPECIAL PERMIT #SPPT-18-009422, THE BRIDGE COMMUNITY ASSEMBLY OF 
GOD CHURCH (OWNER/APPLICANT) – THE BRIDGE COMMUNITY ASSEMBLY 
OF GOD CHURCH – An application to amend a previously approved Category 6 Special 
Permit (SPPT-14-002328) to allow a place of worship, PIN 6982-38-9358-000, 6982-37-
6989-000, 6982-47-3844-000, and 6982-47-2625-000, located at 8774, 8776, 8816 and 8826 



7 
 

 

James Madison Highway, Marshall District, Warrenton, Virginia. (Adam Shellenberger, 
Staff) 
 
Mr. Shellenberger reviewed the staff report. 
 
Mr. Meadows opened the public hearing. 
 
Dr. Greg Hackett, Pastor, stated that he recognizes honest mistakes were made regarding the 
approved landscape and lighting plans. He emphasized that it is not, nor has it ever been, their 
intent to exploit these errors. He has submitted a revised landscape plan, which addresses not 
only the current deficiencies, but also the additional landscaping for the proposed parking 
expansion. In addition, they have investigated several options (i.e., installing a dimmer or 
hoods) to mitigate the effects of the sconce lighting on the building. However, both options 
have proven to be cost prohibitive. In addition, the hoods proved to be aesthetically out of 
character with the building. Dr. Hackett noted that in trying to find a solution that balances 
financial expenditure with community harmony, they inserted a light filter approximately six 
or seven months ago, which has adjusted the brightness of the lights to a softer white 
appearance by approximately 30%. The sconces were also put on a timer that turned them off 
at 9:30 p.m. He also stated that the sconce lighting has now been turned off completely until it 
can be replaced with compliant lighting. He noted his love for the community and stated that 
90% of those who attend their services are residents of Fauquier County. In conclusion, Dr. 
Hackett requested approval of the application with the following revisions to the proposed 
conditions: "#8. Additional compliant landscape will be installed when the weather is 
favorable for planting. In areas where additional parking will be installed, compliant 
landscape will be planted once the parking installation is completed and the weather is 
favorable for planting, so as not to threaten or destroy the compliant landscape. #13. 
Noncompliant sconce lighting on the building will remain "off" until compliant lighting is 
installed." 
 
Mrs. Kathryn Schulin, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to granting approval due to her 
continued concerns about further development of this property. Mrs. Schulin stated that 
increasing the parking spaces by approximately 40% (from 146 to 204) will adversely impact 
the community. Using the ratio of one parking space per four seats (456 seats ÷ 4 = 114) as 
outlined in Article 7 of the Fauquier County Zoning Ordinance, the applicant already has 
other reasonable use of the property. Mrs. Schulin also expressed her concern that this 
proposal constitutes an increased use and will further adversely impact the rural landscape. 
She expressed dismay that she and her neighbors are unable to escape the daily view of a 
commercially-styled building and its associated parking. Mrs. Schulin expressed further 
concern about possible decreased property values and the impact this use will have on 
neighboring wells. 
 
Mr. Gar Schulin, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to granting any current or future church 
parking lot expansion request, which would constitute an increase in building use. He stated 
that he and his neighbors are the ones directly impacted by this project. In addition, no one in 
support of this project has to live near what looks like a retail sized distribution center along 
with its massive parking lot, which has taken over their formerly tranquil and pastoral setting. 
Mr. Schulin expressed concern that increased parking could lead to future development on the 
site. He noted that, according to the November 4, 2010 Board of Zoning Appeals' minutes, the 
applicant's representative clearly stated there would be no need for further expansion. 



8 
 

 

According to the minutes, "Mr. Charles Floyd, representative, stated that the proposed size 
represents the ultimate goals and objective of this growing church and will alleviate the need 
for future Special Permit amendments. Mr. Floyd also discussed the design and orientation of 
the building; hours of operation; lighting; signage; and the proposed landscaping." Mr. 
Schulin further stated that no comprehensive hydrological or geological study was performed 
to determine the impact of the project on water and sewer in the area. He concluded by 
expressing his dismay in the lack of planning that went into this project and again requested 
that the application be denied.   
 
Mr. Charles Floyd, representative, stated that he believed the comments made in 2010 to be 
true at the time since the project was started under the previous pastor, who unexpectedly 
passed away. Subsequently, an amended plan was brought before the Board and approved. 
While the architecture of the structure may not be pleasing to the neighbors, it was vetted 
through the Board several times. The applicant is not seeking to expand the church or the use, 
but would like to alleviate current parking issues, such as cars parking in the dirt or on the 
grass. Mr. Floyd explained that the applicant is pursuing a permanent solution and the 
proposed 58 additional parking spaces would be paved with adequate stormwater management 
design to accommodate any future run-off.  
 
Mr. Tissue inquired if the applicant has considered planting larger than normal landscaping to 
alleviate some of the concerns of the neighbors. 
 
Mr. Floyd responded that he believes installing some larger evergreen trees at the time of 
planting would be appropriate. A discussion then ensued regarding the size and types of trees 
that may be suitable. 
 
Mr. Meadows stated that he and Mrs. Cooper have toured the church on a Sunday, driving 
through the parking lot and stayed there a considerable amount of time. They also viewed the 
site from Lees Ridge Road.  
 
A discussion arose regarding which trees may need to be removed. Mr. Meadows stated that 
there is absolutely no reason to remove any of the mature trees along Route 29. He also noted 
that he is not in favor of the proposed parking spaces that are up against the church. 
 
Mr. Chipman inquired if the church could possibly hold additional services to alleviate the 
parking issues.  
 
Dr. Hackett responded that they believed they had the correct ratio of parking spaces but a 
number of individuals prefer the second service. He noted that when the church is full, there is 
not enough parking to accommodate all the vehicles. 
 
Mr. Meadows recalled that the Board had previously requested the church to alter its dismissal 
times since the same crossover along Route 29 is also used by another church across the road. 
 
Ms. Janet Metzger, a neighbor, spoke in opposition to granting approval. She stated that the 
goal of a church is to grow and questioned what future expansion the applicant will request. 
She has dear friends who attend the church and they have indicated that the church is growing 
very rapidly. She stated that the people who attend the church on Sundays then leave and 



9 
 

 

return to their beautiful views in the County. Ms. Metzger stated that this is her home and, 
while her view has already been ruined, she does not want to see it get any worse. 
 
Mr. Tom Bankert, a member of the church, spoke in support of approval. Mr. Bankert stated 
that he has lived in the County for 16 years. When he built his home in Orlean he understood 
that he could not control the viewshed unless he purchased the other property in his line of 
sight. Mr. Bankert stated that the church property was purchased at an auction in 2009 and 
noted that neighboring property owners also had the opportunity to review the legal notices 
and purchase it if they wished to preserve their view. He expressed his appreciation for the 
church and the much needed help it is providing for numerous people in the community. 
 
Mr. Charles Cornwell, a member of the church, spoke in support of approval. Mr. Cornwell 
stated that a large number of County residents attend their services and the main issue is that 
some are having to park on the grass or in travel lanes. He emphasized the need for additional 
parking spaces since they also had someone park along Route 29, which is a safety concern. 
 
Mr. Jim Ely, a member of the church, spoke in support of approval, stating that while there 
may be seats still available in the church, some who attend are unable to find a parking space. 
Mr. Ely said that it would only seem reasonable that those who attend the church should have 
a safe place to park. 
 
Ms. Helen Cornwell, a member of the church, spoke in support of approval, stating that the 
proposed location is the best place to put the additional parking spaces. She also stated that 
there are numerous issues facing young people today and expressed appreciation that the 
church provides a youth group that many participate in. She noted that there has only been one 
party for the youth group. The disc jockey was a police officer and a retired state trooper 
provided security. She acknowledged that a neighbor did call the police, who found they were 
not doing anything wrong. In addition, she stated that the church is providing help for 
numerous individuals throughout the community. 
 
Mr. Fred Gardner, a member of the church, spoke in support of granting the request in light of 
the positive impact the church is having on the lives of those in the community. Mr. Gardner 
stated that he has lived in his home for approximately 40 years, and of course, there have been 
numerous changes in the view from his backyard. He stated that those who come to worship at 
the church should have a safe place to park. 
 
Mr. Chris Jamison, a neighbor, stated that his house is the closest to the west. He stated that 
while the property is an eye sore, he recognizes it is not going away. He implored the Board to 
make it clear that, should the proposed parking be approved, this does not automatically 
approve additional growth. He stated that the current proposed location for the parking spaces 
would be the least obtrusive place for neighbors to the west. He asked that the landscaping be 
compliant with the original request and stated that any efforts to increase or improve the 
screening would be even better. Mr. Jamison also voiced his appreciation that the applicant 
has turned off the building lights.  
 
Mr. Chipman noted that the church started small, having its services at Highland School, and 
a new church was constructed because of the growth. Mr. Chipman, once again, suggested 
having additional services. He asked what the next step is if the application for additional 
parking is approved and they grow even further. 



10 
 

 

Dr. Hackett responded that the growth has gone beyond what he could have anticipated and 
additional growth would probably require multiple services. However, he does not feel this 
would solve the current issue because most people prefer attending the second service. 
 
Mr. Steve Holland, a member of the church, spoke in support of approval. He stated that there 
are a number of individuals who assist at the church and must be at both services. 
Ms. Eileen Wiersholm, a member of the church, spoke in support of the proposal, stating that 
this is a ministry center helping numerous people and changing the lives of those in the 
community for the better. 
 
Mr. Fred Houser, who attends the church periodically, spoke in support of approval and 
expressed his opinion regarding trees that might be planted.  
 
Board members discussed options regarding screening, lighting, and the possible locations of 
additional parking spaces. 
 
In that there were no further speakers, Mr. Meadows closed the public hearing. 
 
After discussion, on motion made by Mr. Chipman and seconded by Mrs. Cooper, it was 
moved to postpone a decision on this item until the next regularly scheduled meeting, with the 
public hearing closed, so that a work session can be held. 
 
The motion carried unanimously.   
 
 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
None.  
 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at approximately 4:10 p.m. 
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
       John R. Meadows, Chairperson                   Fran Williams, Secretary 
 
Copies of all files and materials presented to the BZA are attached to and become part of 
these minutes. A recording of the meeting is on file for one (1) year. 
 


